THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

OCT 09 2018

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2009-CP-10-3010
Appellate Case No. 2018-000662

Ex Parte:

John Hughes Cooper,

Appellant,

In Re:

Betty Fisher and Lisa Fisher

Plaintiffs,

v.

Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailaigue
Slade, and Sandra Boyd,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Barbara M. Seymour
1612 Marion Street, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 509-8185
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT ARE NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE HE HAD A BASIS TO PROCEED WITH THE WILL CONTEST LITIGATION AND GOOD GROUND TO SUPPORT IT.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BY BASING THE DECISION TO IMPOSE SANCTIONS ON MATTERS OUTSIDE THE WILL CONTEST LITIGATION.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION BECAUSE HIS SANCTIONS AWARD INCLUDED ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS THAT DID NOT RESULT FROM ANY IMPROPER CONDUCT BY APPELLANT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 2008, Plaintiff Lisa Fisher was appointed as sole guardian and conservator for her great-aunt, Alice Shaw-Baker. On February 25, 2009, Ms. Shaw-Baker died. On March 11, 2009, Defendant Bessie Huckabee was appointed as personal representative in accordance with Ms. Shaw-Baker's last will. Defendant Huckabee was a friend of Ms. Shaw-Baker who, along with Defendants Slade and Byrd, was a named beneficiary in the will. On April 27, 2009, Plaintiff Lisa Fisher and her mother, Plaintiff Betty Fisher, filed a civil action against Defendants Huckabee, Slade, and Byrd contesting the will and asserting multiple causes of action in equity (the Will Contest litigation). Appellant John Hughes Cooper represented the Plaintiffs in the Will Contest. Plaintiff Lisa Fisher is an attorney licensed in California. She was admitted *pro hac vice* and served as Appellant's co-counsel.

The parties were involved in several other legal proceedings that ran concurrently with the Will Contest litigation, including the probate of the estate; a survival action for damages filed by Betty Fisher against Bessie Huckabee and others; a magistrate's court ejectment action filed by Bessie Huckabee against the tenant living in Ms. Shaw-Baker's house; and, various appeals

filed in connection with those matters.

On May 13, 2009, the Will Contest litigation was removed from the Probate Court to the Circuit Court. On motion of the Defendants, the Will Contest case was bifurcated into the revocation claim (to be tried by a jury) and the equitable trust and related claims (to be tried by a judge). On August 2, 2017, the Defendants filed their first motion for summary judgment. On October 23, 2017, (the first day of the jury trial of the revocation claim) the trial judge denied that motion from the bench. During the jury trial, the trial judge denied the Defendants' motion for directed verdict. On October 26, 2017, at the end of a three-day trial, a jury found for the Defendants on the revocation claim. On November 6, 2017, the Defendants filed a motion for sanctions pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (the FCPSA).

On January 2, 2018, the Defendants filed a renewed motion for summary judgment on the remaining causes of action. On February 28, 2018, after a pre-trial hearing, the trial judge issued an order again declining to grant summary judgment. On March 7, 2018, the Defendants' counsel re-asserted the motion for summary judgment in an email to the trial judge. On March 12, 2018, prior to the start of the bench trial on the equitable claims, the Defendants' counsel again argued for summary judgment. The trial judge stated that he "preferred to proceed," effectively denying summary judgment on the equity claims for the fourth time.

On March 21, 2018, the trial judge issued an order finding in favor of the Defendants on the remaining equitable claims and imposing sanctions against the Plaintiffs and Appellant pursuant to both the FCPSA and Rule 11, SCRCF. The sanctions included a judgment of \$253,969.31 against Appellant and the Plaintiffs jointly in favor of the Defendants. The sanctions also included a judgment of \$65,151.34 against Appellant in favor of the Estate of

Alice Shaw-Baker. On April 3, 2018, the trial judge issued an order relieving Appellant as counsel for the Plaintiffs in the Will Contest litigation and, as an additional sanction, “enjoined and restrained” the Plaintiffs and their attorneys from filing “any motions in the Circuit Court.” On April 13, 2018, Appellant filed and served his Notice of Appeal of the March 21 and April 3 orders.

On May 21, 2018, the trial judge held a hearing on the Plaintiffs’ post-trial motions. On June 27, 2018, the Supreme Court certified Appellant’s appeal for review. On June 29, 2018, the trial judge filed an order which included, among other things, judgments against Plaintiff Lisa Fisher and Appellant jointly of \$35,315.00 in favor of Defendants’ attorney Peter A. Kouten, \$59,289.50 in favor of Defendants’ attorney W. Westbrook Wills, III, and \$25,512.50 in favor of Defendants’ attorney Jessica L. Crowley. On July 2, 2018, Appellant filed and served his Notice of Appeal of the June 29 order.

On July 9, 2018, the trial judge issued an amended version of his June 29 order adding Plaintiff Betty Fisher to the sanctions awards in favor of Defendants’ attorneys. On July 23, 2018, the trial judge issued an order increasing the sanctions awards against Appellant and the Plaintiffs in favor of Mr. Kouten to \$78,872.43 and in favor of Ms. Crowley to \$32,461.75. The trial judge also vacated his prior judgments against Appellant in favor of the Defendants and the Estate of Alice Shaw-Baker. On August 6, 2018, Appellant filed and served his Notice of Appeal of the July 23 order.

As it stands at the time of the filing of this brief, the only remaining sanctions against Appellant are \$59,289.50 in favor of Mr. Wills, \$78,872.43 in favor of Mr. Kouten, and \$32,461.75 in favor of Ms. Crowley. However, the trial judge expressly incorporated the findings set out in the previous orders into his final order issued on July 23, 2018.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of appellate review of a lower court's imposition of sanctions under the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act S.C. Code Ann. § §15-36-10 (Supp. 2012) (the FCPSA) is de novo. "[A]n appellate court reviews the findings of fact with respect to the decision to grant sanctions under the FCPSA by 'taking its own view of the evidence.'" Holmes v. Haynsworth, Sinkler & Boyd, P.A., 408 S.C. 620, 641, 760 S.E.2d 399, 410 (2014) (Holmes II) (citing Father v. S.C. Dep't of Social Services, 353 S.C. 254, 261, 578 S.E.2d 11, 14 (2003)). The same standard of review applies to a trial judge's findings under Rule 11, SCRPC. Se. Site Prep, L.L.C. v. Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, L.L.C., 394 S.C. 97, 104, 713 S.E.2d 650, 653 (Ct. App. 2011) ("The determination of whether attorney's fees should be awarded under Rule 11 or under the [FCPSA] is treated as one in equity.")). However, the abuse of discretion standard "play[s] a role in the appellate review of a sanctions award." *See, Father*, 353 S.C. at 261, 578 S.E.2d at 14. If, upon its review of the evidence, an appellate court agrees with the trial judge's factual findings, it will then determine whether the trial judge abused his discretion in granting sanctions under the Act. Ex parte Gregory, 378 S.C. 430, 437, 663 S.E.2d 46, 50 (2008). ("[W]here the appellate court agrees with the trial court's findings of fact, it reviews the decision to award sanctions, as well as the terms of those sanctions, under an abuse of discretion standard.")

ARGUMENTS

I. SANCTIONS AGAINST APPELLANT ARE NOT WARRANTED BECAUSE HE HAD A BASIS TO PROCEED WITH THE WILL CONTEST LITIGATION AND GOOD GROUND TO SUPPORT IT.

An objective view of the evidence reveals that sanctions against Appellant were not warranted under either the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (FCPSA) or Rule 11 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRPC) because his belief that the Plaintiffs' claims and arguments had merit was reasonable. To the best of Appellant's knowledge, information, and belief, there was evidence to support the assertions he made and actions he took on behalf of the Plaintiffs. The purpose of Appellant's pursuit of those claims and his assertion of legal arguments on behalf of his clients was to seek a just determination of the dispute, not to cause delay or impose a burden on the Defendants or the courts.

A trial judge has the authority to impose sanctions for improper filings under both Rule 11 and the FCPSA. With regard to Rule 11, SCRCP, the trial judge must find that the pleading or motion lacked "good ground to support it" or that it was "interposed for delay" in order to impose a sanction on an attorney. The standard applicable to the requirements set forth in Rule 11 is "to the best of [the attorney's] knowledge, information and belief."

With regard to the FCPSA, the trial judge must find one or more of the following in order to impose sanctions on an attorney:

SC Code §15-36-10(A)(4)(a)(ii): The attorney filed a frivolous pleading, motion, or document when "a reasonable attorney in the same circumstances would believe that under the facts, his claim ... was clearly not warranted under existing law[.]"

SC Code §15-36-10(A)(4)(a)(iii): The attorney filed a frivolous pleading, motion, or document when "a reasonable attorney presented with the same circumstances would believe that the procurement, initiation, continuation ... of a civil cause was intended merely to harass or injure another party[.]"

SC Code §15-36-10(A)(4)(a)(iv): The attorney filed a frivolous pleading, motion, or document when “a reasonable attorney presented with the same circumstances would believe the pleading, motion, or document is frivolous, interposed for delay, or merely brought for any purpose other than securing proper ... adjudication of the claim[.]”

SC Code §15-36-10(A)(4)(b): The attorney made frivolous arguments that “a reasonable attorney would believe were not reasonably supported by the facts.”

SC Code §15-36-10(A)(4)(c): The attorney made frivolous arguments “that a reasonable attorney would believe were not warranted under the existing law[.]”

(emphasis added)

The trial judge in this case did not state with any specificity which subsection(s) he found violated by Appellant, but rather inserted the entire code section into his initial order. (March 21 Order, R. pp. 41-44) Notably, subsection (J) of the FCPSA says that the provisions of SC Code §15-36-10 “shall not apply where an attorney ... establishes a basis to proceed with litigation, or to assert or controvert an issue therein, that is not frivolous[.]”

Both the FCPSA and Rule 11 require the trial judge to evaluate an attorney’s decision to proceed based on the circumstances known to the attorney at the time he signed and filed the pleading or at the time he propounded the argument. Therefore, an appropriate evaluation of Appellant’s conduct must be made, not in hindsight, but with a view to his knowledge and understanding of the evidence and law available to him at the time. The record shows that Appellant had “a basis to proceed” with the Will Contest litigation and had “good ground to support it.”

In his sanctions orders, the trial judge wrote generally about the frivolous nature of the proceedings as a whole. For example, in the March 21 Order, the trial judge declared that the “commencement and continuation of this action is sanctionable” and that the Plaintiffs’ “claims were entirely frivolous.” (March 21 Order, R. p. 44) However, he criticized just two filings with

any specificity: the merits of the revocation claim (March 21 Order, R. p. 45) and the appeal related to the modification of a temporary restraining order (TRO) (June 29 Order, R. p. 82). Appellant had a reasonable factual basis and reasonable arguments under existing law to support both the revocation claim and the appeal of the modified TRO.¹ Because he established a nonfrivolous “basis to proceed with litigation, or to assert or controvert an issue therein,” the provisions of the FCPSA do not apply. SC Code §15-36-10(J).

A. APPELLANT’S PURSUIT OF THE WILL CONTEST LITIGATION WAS REASONABLY SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND WAS WARRANTED UNDER EXISTING LAW.

At the trial of the revocation claim in the first portion of the bifurcated Will Contest case, the trial judge instructed the jury that “the law does provide that if a person can prove by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence ... that after [the decedent] regained her sound mind, she got better, she knew what she was doing, she knew what her estate was, she knew how she wanted it to be distributed, that she tore up the other will because of that; the burden of proof on that is on the party making that claim.” (R. p. 1200, lines 17–25) The trial judge went on to say that “if the scale tips even slightly in favor of the Plaintiff’s claim that [the decedent] revoked [her will] legally on that day by tearing up a copy of it, then the Plaintiff would have met the burden of proof of proving (*sic*) that claim by the greater weight or preponderance of the evidence.” (R. p. 1201, line 24–p. 1202, line 5) The trial judge correctly instructed the members of the jury that it was “up to you to decide ... whether or not there was any tearing up of a copy

¹ Appellant has elected not to include arguments in support of the merits of each cause of action asserted, document filed, or argument propounded on behalf of the Plaintiffs in this brief but instead only address the two specifics identified by the trial judge. However, given that the trial judge found fault with “this case as a whole” (R. p. 39), Appellant stands ready to provide the Supreme Court with a supplemental brief in support of any position taken in the litigation on behalf of the Plaintiffs.

of the will, and whether if it was torn up did [the decedent] have the mental capacity she needed to have in order to revoke the will on that occasion. You have to decide all that. That is why you are here today.” (R. p. 1203, line 25–p. 1204, line 6)

In his reasonable estimation, prior to the trial judge’s exclusion of a significant portion of the Plaintiffs’ evidence at the jury trial, Appellant and his clients had a nonfrivolous basis to proceed with the revocation claim. As the trial judge instructed the jury, the Plaintiffs needed to prove (1) that Alice Shaw-Baker tore up a copy of her will; and, (2) that she had the mental capacity necessary to revoke her will on that occasion. Both of those issues were submitted to the jury with instructions that they had “to decide all that.”

In pursuing the revocation claim, Appellant had evidence to show both of those elements. With regard to defacing and tearing up of the will, Appellant had the testimony of Plaintiff Lisa Fisher. (R. p. 675, line 22–p. 676, line 22) The trial judge incorrectly stated in the March 21 Order that “nothing corroborates” that testimony.² (R. p. 45) To the contrary, in addition to Plaintiff Lisa Fisher’s eyewitness testimony, Appellant had multiple documents showing Ms. Shaw-Baker’s understanding and intent with regard to the distribution of her assets upon her death including devises under her will (R. pp. 1230-1252); evaluations of Ms. Shaw-Baker’s mental capacity from Dr. Waid (R. pp. 1253-1258) and Dr. Honney (R. pp. 1209-1210); and, testimony from Candace Rickborn that Ms. Shaw-Baker was upset to learn that her assets would not be used as she intended (R. p. 728, line 4–p. 729, line 23; p. 730, line 17–p. 732, line 7).³

² Even if the trial judge was correct that the only evidence of revocation was Plaintiff Lisa Fisher’s testimony, that would not support a finding that Appellant’s pursuit of the Will Contest litigation was frivolous. An attorney can obtain a reasonable belief in the merits of a case based solely on information related to him by a client. *See, Gregory*, 378 S.C. at 439, 663 S.E.2d at 14.

³ Similarly, Appellant proceeded with the bench trial of the equity claims based on a reasonable belief that the facts and law supported his clients’ claims. In addition to admissions by Defendants Huckabee and Slade in their answer regarding their fiduciary relationships with Ms.

In support of his finding that the Plaintiffs' revocation claim had no merit, the trial judge pointed to the order issued by the probate judge appointing Lisa Fisher as conservator and guardian for Ms. Shaw-Baker prior to her death. In each of his sanctions orders, the trial judge referred back to the provision in that probate court order that Ms. Shaw-Baker was prohibited from revising or revoking her will, stating that a reasonable attorney would have recognized this as a "huge legal stop sign." (R. pp. 45, 81, 90) This fact fails as a basis for finding that the Will Contest was a frivolous proceeding for two reasons. First, the probate order did not specifically find that Ms. Shaw-Baker lacked the mental capacity to revoke her will. (R. p. 12) Second, although the probate court order did include a prohibition on the revocation of the will, it does not follow that revocation did not in fact happen.

It is significant that the probate court order appointing Lisa Fisher as conservator and guardian was temporary. The probate judge included instructions in that order that a "full neuropsychological evaluation" be conducted to determine the extent of Ms. Shaw-Baker's mental impairment to determine, in part, "whether or not less care/supervision may be sufficient." (R. p. 13) As it happened, Ms. Shaw-Baker died before the probate judge had the opportunity to review the report and make that determination. However, Appellant had that report and other significant evidence to support the Plaintiffs' assertion that Ms. Shaw-Baker did in fact have the mental capacity and intent to revoke her will. The trial judge's reliance on the probate court's temporary and interrupted order as evidence that the Will Contest was a frivolous claim is wholly unsupported by the actual timeline of events and the probate court order itself.

Appellant did not approach these trials unprepared. He had significant personal contact

Shaw-Baker, Appellant had the testimony of multiple witnesses (including Defendant Slade) and writings of the decedent that demonstrated her capacity and intent regarding her nonprobate assets. Further, as outlined in detail in his pre-trial brief, other filings, and arguments at trial, Appellant reasonably believed that his clients' claims were well-founded on the principles of law and equity.

with Ms. Shaw-Baker during the pendency of the conservatorship prior to her death; he conducted extensive discovery on behalf of his clients (R. p. 883, line 8–p. 888, line 7); he fully researched the issues as reflected in his pre-trial brief; and, he took reasonable and appropriate steps to ensure that his clients got a fair hearing. To the best of Appellant’s knowledge, information and belief, the evidence he had was good ground to support the Will Contest litigation. As Appellant attempted to offer this evidence, the trial judge “called balls and strikes” allowing some evidence and excluding some evidence. Appellant cannot be held accountable for failing to accurately predict a judge’s discretionary evidentiary rulings, particularly with regard to objections as to relevance. As the trials unfolded and rulings were made on the admissibility of his evidence, Appellant elected not to pursue certain arguments and claims that he reasonably determined would not succeed. At each stage in the litigation, Appellant had a nonfrivolous basis to proceed.

B. DENIAL OF MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DIRECTED VERDICT IS EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT’S CONDUCT WAS REASONABLE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

While not determinative, it is significant that the trial judge allowed Plaintiffs’ revocation claim to proceed with the jury trial in the bifurcated Will Contest litigation, denying the Defendants’ motions for both summary judgment and directed verdict. The trial judge also denied the Defendants’ motions for summary judgment and directed verdict⁴ on the equitable claims, even after the jury found in their favor on the revocation claim. (R. p. 38; R. p. 883, lines

⁴ There is some confusion in the record regarding the judge’s ruling on the Defendants’ motion for directed verdict on the undue influence claim. The trial judge seemed to have granted the motion at the jury trial. (R. p. 872, line 20–p. 879, line 7) However, at the bench trial, when Appellant made arguments related to the undue influence claim and the Defendants’ attorney responded that the claim had been “abandoned” and directed verdict granted, the trial judge “reserved” the ruling on that, and determined that the jury trial and the bench trial were “still one case.” (R. p. 890, line 19–p. 892, line 19; p. 894, line 19–p.896, line 20)

2-6; R. p. 893, line 2–p.895, line 5.)

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