THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2009-CP-10-3010
Appellate Case No. 2018-000662

RECEIVED

OCT 12 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Ex parte:

John Hughes Cooper..... Appellant,

Betty Fisher and Lisa Fisher..... Plaintiffs,

v.

Bessie Huckabee, Kay..... Respondents.

Passailaigue Slade, and
Sandra Byrd,

In the Matter of the Estate of
Alice Shaw-Baker.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

W. Westbrook Wills III
Law Office of
W. Westbrook Wills III
PO Box 822
Folly Beach, SC 29453
843-588-9416
wwills@wwillslaw.com
Attorney for Respondents

Jessica L. Crowley

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

to no law or evidence whatsoever, in the Record or otherwise, to demonstrate that his initiation of the will contest, and any of the interrelated actions, was reasonable under the circumstances, and that grounds existed for it under the law.

Importantly, Appellant in no substantial way addresses Judge Hughston's specific findings of frivolousness nor does he explain how those findings were not accurate and appropriate. Instead, Appellant merely states, inaccurately, that "the trial judge did not state with any specificity which subsections he found violated by Appellant, but rather inserted the entire code section into his order (March 21, Order, p. 3-6)". [See Appellant's Int. Brief, p. 6].

Under the FCPSA a lawyer's conduct is sanctionable if he fails to comply with any of the criteria set out for frivolousness. In setting out the entire FCPSA code section in his March 21, 2018 Order, Judge Hughston implicitly, if not specifically, found Appellant violated all of them. Of course, Judge Hughston's language in setting out his findings regarding the frivolousness of Appellant's conduct leaves nothing to speculation.

Immediately after setting forth the entire FCPSA in order, Judge Hughston indicates, "it is clear to me that Plaintiffs' claims were entirely frivolous, and for that reason I find Plaintiffs and their attorney are subject to sanctions . . ." (See R. p. 44). "Plaintiffs' claims were completely baseless . . ." (R. p. 44), "Plaintiffs have done nothing but delay and harass Defendants." (R. p. 44). "Plaintiffs . . . were subject to sanctions based on the inherent authority of courts to sanction litigants who act in bad faith, vexatiously, that is without proper grounds, or for oppressive and improper purposes." (R. p. 44). "This is the worst case of frivolous acts that I have experienced." (R. p. 46).

Judge Hughston continues in his Order of May 29, 2018, following a hearing on Plaintiffs' SCRCF, Rule 59 motion for a new trial, at which he took substantial additional

testimony, including from Plaintiffs, Respondents, and one of Alice Shaw-Baker's caregivers during her life:

One cannot fully comprehend the total waste of time and expense in this case without reading everything including all of the discovery of each side. It takes me two days to read these voluminous files, and I have read them two times to fully understand this case, and particularly, the claims of the Plaintiffs. **The bottom line of it all is that there are no facts supporting these claims made up by essentially strangers to Alice Shaw-Baker and her friends.**

(R. p. 78). "This should have been a simple guardian/conservator/personal representative case. Instead it has by Plaintiffs' frivolous acts gone on for nine years and counting. This is unconscionable and an abuse of the court system. Every avenue to delay has been used and abused by Plaintiffs for no good reason." (R. p. 82).

Judge Hughston's findings are even more specific with regard to the reasonableness of Plaintiffs' claims in the will contest and related actions:

It is important to read the Order of Judge Curry of November 19, 2008, for it is dispositive of Plaintiffs' contention that Alice Shaw-Baker revoked her Will. She was an 'Incapacitated Person'. Section 62-5-101(1) S.C. Code of Laws. Among other things, Judge Curry Ordered, 'neither Alice Shaw-Baker nor anyone on her behalf may revise or revoke her Will or execute a new Will, unless specifically ordered by this Court. No one sought to change this Order. **This alone should have told Plaintiffs not to claim the Will was revoked under extremely suspicious and questionable circumstances shown in the record and recited in my prior Order.** This Order is in addition to the settled law that mentally incompetent person lacks capacity to revoke a Will. **Without question, Alice Shaw-Baker lacked capacity to revoke her Will.**

(R. pp. 79-80). "Plaintiffs' conduct through the case appears to have been nothing but vexatious, that is, brought without sufficient grounds, and the maintenance of this completely frivolous claim can only be characterized as unreasonable." (R. p. 44).

Appellant defends that his purpose in instigating and continuing the action, and in asserting the legal arguments was "to seek a just determination of the dispute, not to cause delay or impose burden on the Defendants." [See Appellant's Int. Brief, p. 5]. Judge Hughston

disagrees, stating “[p]laintiffs may subjectively say, ‘We are just doing what Alice Shaw-Baker wanted us to do.’ Intent and result are shown by their acts, not their words.” (R. p. 8). “It is not their actual intent to harm, but harm is the reasonable foreseeable outcome.” (R. p. 44).

Appellant also argues that while Judge Hughston indicates in his orders that he found Appellant’s actions over the entire course of the litigation of the will contest and related actions sanctionable, he, in fact, “criticized just two filings with any specificity: the merits of the revocation claim (R. p. 45) and the appeal related to the modification of a temporary restraining order (TRO) (R. p. 82).” [Appellant’s Int. Brief, p. 6-7]. As discussed above, Judge Hughston’s orders reveal his criticism of Appellant’s conduct in far more instances than specifically with regard to just two filings. In fact, Judge Hughston indicates that he has made his findings based on the case as a whole. (R. p. 31). To that end, he specifically set forth in an appendix to his order a procedural timeline to illustrate Appellant’s and Plaintiffs’ vexatious course over a 9-year period, particularly in light of the case they ultimately brought to trial, which ended up being a challenge to Alice Shaw-Baker’s will on a single claim of revocation, which Judge Hughston found should never have been brought in the first place. (See R. pp. 48-61).

Nevertheless, the determination for the imposition of sanctions under the FCPSA is not to be made based on the number of filings the court finds frivolous, but whether the court finds by a preponderance of the evidence that a lawyer’s conduct in instigating and continuing a legal action was violative of the Act and reasonable under the circumstances. Here, Judge Hughston has specifically found Appellant’s actions unreasonable and sanctionable according to the criteria set out in the FCPSA. This could not be more clearly stated than in his Order of June 29, 2018:

Frivolous determinations are governed by a reasonable attorney standard. Here, two questions arise. One, would a reasonable attorney bring and maintain a suit

now in its ninth year claiming that an undoubtedly incompetent person had revoked her otherwise valid will by tearing it on January 1, 2009, following Judge Curry's Order of November 19, 2008, when only that attorney supposedly witnessed the tearing and no proof of such an act existed other than that attorney's say so, and that attorney's mother is an heir if the Will was revoked along with some other heirs who are not parties, or notified of this suit, and whose existence was just revealed? **The answer is an unqualified "No"**. Two, would a reasonable attorney bring and maintain a suit now in its ninth year claiming an equitable constructive trust over the entire Estate given all the clear facts and circumstances in the record contrary to such a claim? **Again, the answer is an unqualified "No"**.

(R. pp. 81-82) (emphasis added).

Judge Hughston is an experienced trial judge with 33 years on the bench. (See R. p. 85). He had the benefit of experiencing the entirety of the proceedings, and of intently studying the entire file multiple times. It was from his informed and experienced perspective that he made all of his findings, including his findings related to Plaintiffs' and Appellant's frivolousness, "by a standard of overwhelmingly clear and convincing evidence considering the case as a whole, and that is the only way one can ever begin to understand this case – as a whole." (See R. p. 39).

A. APPELLANT'S PURSUIT OF THE WILL CONTEST LITIGATION WAS NOT REASONABLY SUPPORTED BY THE FACTS AND WAS NOT WARRANTED UNDER THE LAW

In Section A of his Argument, Appellant claims his pursuit of the will contest litigation was reasonably supported by the facts, and was warranted under existing law. In support of that proposition, Appellant advances the argument that because the judge instructed the jury that if a person can prove by a preponderance of the evidence that an incapacitated person regains sound mind, that person may then revoke his or her will, and that it would be up to the jury to decide whether Alice Shaw-Baker 1) had regained the capacity needed to revoke her will, and 2) whether they believed she tore up a copy.² [See Appellant's Int. Brief, p. 8]. Further, Appellant

² Importantly, Judge Hughston also instructed the jury that they would have Probate Judge Tamara Curry's Order Appointing Lisa Fisher as Conservator and Guardian of Alice Shaw-Baker, and that they "can see what she said in

argues that his good faith, non-frivolous basis for bringing the claim was obfuscated by Judge Hughston's exclusion of portions of Plaintiffs' evidence at trial, the admission of which would have revealed the viability of his claims as to the revocation of the will and other aspects. He contends that he had researched the issues, had significant personal contact with Alice Shaw-Baker during the pendency of the conservatorship prior to her death, conducted extensive discovery, and, to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, at the time of bringing the will contest litigation, that the evidence showed there was a good ground to support it. [See Appellant's Int. Brief, p. 10].

First, and as the Record reflects, the vast majority of what Judge Hughston excluded from evidence at the jury trial as irrelevant to the issues were materials Appellant and Plaintiffs presented to prove their bad faith, if not fraudulent, position that it was Alice Shaw-Baker's intention to give the totality of her estate and non-probate assets to unspecified animal charities, despite the intentions expressed in all of her wills, and was a primary reason she sought to revoke it. This position was in particular bad faith considering that revocation would result in intestacy and, rather than the estate going to animal charities, it would go to Plaintiffs.

Second, Appellant was present at the October 29, 2008 Probate Court hearing appointing his client as Alice Shaw-Baker's Conservator and Guardian, and had first-hand knowledge of the basis of Judge Curry's order, and the order itself, which specifically prohibited Alice, or anyone on her behalf, from revising, revoking, or making a new will "unless specifically ordered by this Court." (See R. p. 12). Also present at the hearing were Dr. Leonard W. Mulbry Jr., M.D. and Rebecca S. McCrudden, M.A., L.P.C., who had been appointed by the Court to examine Alice to make a determination with regard to her capacity. Dr. Mulbry and Ms. McCrudden both

that order, and you can presume that she had good reason to say that. She had good reason to do what she did when she put it in writing and filed in the Probate Court. You can presume that, that she was not able to make a will at that time." (See Jury Trial Transcript, p. 481: 11-16; Supp. R. p. _____).

presented their reports and findings at the hearing concluding that Alice was an incapacitated person. (See R. p. 8). Those findings, of course, were consistent with Judge Curry's conclusion of law that "Alice Shaw-Baker is an incapacitated person as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-101(1)."

Thereafter, for the sole purpose of determining the appropriate level of in-home and follow-up care for Alice, the Probate Court ordered that she be examined by Dr. Randolph Waid, Ph.D., who would report to the Court on his findings. (R. p. 13). Appellant and Plaintiffs were instrumental in arranging Alice's examination with Dr. Waid, and obtaining his report with regard to her mental condition to submit to the Probate Court pursuant to Judge Curry's November 19, 2008 Order. Dr. Waid reported that Alice "demonstrated considerable impairment on learning/memory tests," was not oriented as to "the year, season of the year, date, day of the week, or month." (See R. pp. 1253-58).³ Waid diagnosed her with dementia with comorbid psychological/ emotional difficulties. However, Plaintiffs and their attorney did not provide the report to the Probate Court.

Subsequently, Appellant and Plaintiff filed their will contest action alleging 11 causes of action for 1) constructive trust, 2) declaratory judgment regarding revocation of will, 3) undue influence, 4) fraud, 5) declaratory judgment regarding improper execution of will, 6) declaratory judgment regarding subsequent will, 7) unjust enrichment, 8) promissory estoppel, 9) petition for removal of Bessie Huckabee as personal representative, 10) petition for appointment of Betty Fisher as personal representative, and 11) attorney's fees and costs.

Appellant claims that despite having full knowledge of the doctors' reports discussed above, of the Probate Court's Order prohibiting Alice from revoking her will until further order

³ Appellant and Plaintiffs put Dr. Waid up as their witness during the bench trial on Plaintiffs' bifurcated equitable claims. Dr. Waid testified that according to his November 20, 2008 examination, Alice Shaw-Baker was "incapacitated and needed protection." (See R. p. 1034, lines 10-19).

of the Court, he had good grounds to file the will contest action based on his knowledge of the facts and law at the time. However, reference to page 8 of Judge Hughston's March 21, 2018 Order clearly shows, Appellant misses the point:

The jury trial and the non-jury trials are perhaps the best evidence of [Plaintiffs'] frivolous actions. The claim that the Will was revoked should never have been filed. The only testimony on this came from Lisa Fisher. She and only she claims to have seen Ms. Shaw-Baker destroy a copy of her Will. Nothing corroborates this. . . Even if it did happen as described, this was an act of an incompetent person with no legal effect. Also, Judge Curry's Order says she could not revoke her Will due to her incapacity. **These two facts alone should have been enough to tell any reasonably competent lawyer not to file this suit. These were two huge legal stop signs with bright flashing red danger lights and said to any reasonably competent attorney, 'Go no further and if you do, you travel at your own peril'**

(R. p. 45). This is the heart of the matter.

B. DENIAL OF MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT IS NOT EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT'S CONDUCT WAS REASONABLE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

In Section B, Appellant argues that the denial of Respondents' motions for summary judgment and directed verdict motions constitutes evidence Appellant's conduct was reasonable. He bases this contention on the reasoning set out in Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997) which case found that an award of sanctions was precluded where a litigant survived pre-trial dispositive motions. However, as Appellant acknowledge in his brief, the holding in Hanahan was revisited by the Court after the 2005 revision to the FCPSA. This Court decided in Holmes v. East Cooper Community Hosp., Inc., 408 S.C. 138, 756 S.E.2d 483 (2014), that under the plain terms of the FCPSA as revised in 2005, Hanahan's reasoning as to the disposition of pre-trial motions no longer applies. Moreover, just as in Holmes, the trial judge here also deferred ruling on Respondents' summary judgment motions, preferring instead to have the benefit of a fully developed record. His declining to rule on Respondents' summary

judgment motions, as opposed to Appellant's claim he denied them, had nothing to do with the merits of the motion. In fact, Judge Hughston ultimately dismissed Plaintiffs' equitable claims for lack of standing, after hearing all of the evidence. (See R. p. 79).

Appellant suggests that he may have somehow been encouraged by Judge Hughston's deferred rulings on Respondents' motions for summary judgment, to imply that perhaps it was Judge Hughston's fault that he and Plaintiffs' continued their frivolously brought claims [see Appellant's Int. Brief. P.12]. This claim is farfetched and not supported by the record. At trial, Plaintiffs presented no evidence whatsoever and abandoned every cause of action except one, their claim regarding revocation (discussed above), and their equitable claims were dismissed outright for lack of standing, after they spent two days essentially attempting to re-litigate the will contest. Appellant went so far as to suggest that Judge Hughston should void Judge Curry's November 19, 2008 Order prohibiting revocation of Alice's will. (R. pp. 960, line 1-962, line 16).

C. THE APPEAL OF THE ORDER MODIFYING TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER WAS NOT REASONABLE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES

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